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>>Committee commenced at 13:36

Chairman (Mr. Main)(interpretation): Good
day, my colleagues and guests. First of all,
Mr. Quassa, can you say the opening prayer,
please.

>>Prayer

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Quassa. Good day, my colleagues. Firstly the
agenda needs to be agreed to. Do members
agree?

Some Members: Agreed.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Let’s
proceed. | have opening comments, but let
me first remind you that if you have
cellphones, it would be preferable if you put
them on silent mode.

(interpretation ends) Good afternoon. | would
like to welcome everyone to this meeting of
the Legislative Assembly’s Standing
Committee on Oversight of Government
Operations and Public Accounts.

We have convened today to begin the
Standing Committee’s hearings on the 2019
Report of the Auditor General of Canada on
Support for High School Students and Adult
Learners. This report was tabled in the
Legislative Assembly on June 4, 2019.

| am very pleased to welcome the Assistant
Auditor General of Canada, Mr. Terry
DeJong, and the officials from the Office of
the Auditor General, Mr. McKenzie and Ms.
Scott, to Igaluit. (interpretation) Welcome.

(interpretation ends) We are very fortunate to
have officials from the Office of the Auditor
General here with us to help us to understand
what kinds of gaps and barriers are faced by
Nunavut’s high school students and adult
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learners as they progress towards higher
education and employment opportunities.

(interpretation) | am also very pleased to
introduce my Standing Committee
colleagues:

e Pauloosie Keyootak, Member for
Uggqummiut;

e Allan Rumbolt, Member for
Hudson Bay;

e Tony Akoak, Member for Gjoa
Haven;

e Joelie Kaernerk, Member for
Amittugq;

e Adam Arreak Lightstone, Member
for Igaluit-Manirajak;

e Pat Angnakak, Member for Iqaluit-
Niagunnguu;

e (interpretation ends) Cathy
Towtongie, Member for Rankin
Inlet North-Chesterfield Inlet;

e Paul Quassa, Member for Aggu;

e Mila Kamingoak, Member for
Kugluktuk;

e Emiliano Qirngnug, Member for
Netsilik; and

e Margaret Nakashuk, Member for
Pangnirtung.

The report of the Auditor General addresses
the roles of the departments of Education,
Family Services, and Nunavut Arctic College
in supporting Nunavut’s students and adult
learners to transition through high school to
post-secondary education and the workforce.

This week’s televised hearing provides an
opportunity for the government to publicly
account for what policies, actions, and
strategies are being taken to address the
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issues, observations, and recommendations
that are contained in the Auditor General’s
report. (interpretation) Consequently,
witnesses from the Department of Education,
Nunavut Arctic College, and the Department
of Family Services have been invited to
appear before the Standing Committee, and
we welcome them here today.

(interpretation ends) In 2013 the Auditor
General of Canada conducted an audit on
education in Nunavut. That report contained
a number of recommendations to the
Department of Education. The department
developed an Education Act implementation
work plan and its progress in achieving some
of the objectives listed in that work plan can
be followed in its subsequent annual reports
which were tabled in March 2018 for the
2014-15 and 2015-16 annual years and more
recently the annual report for 2016-17 which
was tabled on March 4, 20109.

I would like to stress that today’s proceeding
and tomorrow’s proceeding will not be
focusing on the implementation of Nunavut’s
current Education Act nor on Bill 25, which
proposes a number of amendments to the
Education Act as well as the Inuit Language
Protection Act and is currently being
reviewed by the Standing Committee on
Legislation.

I would also like to note that following the
cabinet retreat in my home community of
beautiful Arviat a couple of weeks ago, it
was recently announced that the funding for
Nunavut students program, FANS, will be
returned to the jurisdiction of the Department
of Education. When the audit being
considered today was conducted, the FANS
program was under the jurisdiction of the
Department of Family Services.

I will now briefly cover some logistical and
housekeeping matters.
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In keeping with parliamentary practice, the
Standing Committee anticipates reporting its
findings and recommendations from this
televised hearing to the Legislative Assembly
during our upcoming fall sitting.

Under Rule 91(5) of the Rules of the
Legislative Assembly, the government will
be required to provide a formal response to
our report within 120 days of its presentation.

I’ll repeat my earlier request and I’11 ask all
Members, witnesses, and visitors in the
gallery to ensure that their cellphones and
other electronic devices do not disrupt these
proceedings.

In order to assist our excellent interpreters
and technical staff, | ask that all Members
and witnesses go through the Chair before
speaking.

(interpretation) This hearing is being

televised live across Nunavut on community
cable stations and the direct-to-home satellite
services of both the Bell and Shaw networks.

Transcripts of the hearing will be posted on
the Legislative Assembly’s website at a later
date.

(interpretation ends) Members of the
Standing Committee have been provided
with a number of reports and other
documents for their ease of reference during
this hearing. For the benefit of our witnesses
and interpreters, | ask Members to be precise
when quoting from or making reference to
specific documents.

I would again like to welcome the Assistant
Auditor General of Canada, Mr. Terry
DeJong, to our hearing and | now invite him
to deliver his opening remarks.
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(interpretation) Welcome to the Chamber and
you may now begin. Thank you.

Mr. DeJong: Thank you. Unnusakkut. Good
afternoon, Mr. Chairman. We are pleased to
be here in lgaluit today to discuss our report
on support for high school students and adult
learners in Nunavut. The report was tabled in
the Legislative Assembly of Nunavut on June
4, 2019. With me today are James McKenzie,
Principal, and Adrienne Scott, senior auditor,
who were responsible for this audit.

In this audit, we wanted to know how well
the Department of Education, Nunavut Arctic
College, and the Department of Family
Services were supporting high school
students’ transition through school to post-
secondary education and employment.

We also wanted to know what access adult
learners had to programs that would allow
them to upgrade core academic and literacy
skills, obtain their High School Diploma, and
become eligible to enter post-secondary
education programs.

Education is important to the well-being of
individuals and Nunavut as a whole.
Education and training that prepare children,
youth, and adult learners to make positive
contributions to society and to enter into
meaningful employment are priorities of the
Government of Nunavut.

Overall we found a number of gaps and
barriers in Nunavut’s education system that
made it difficult for high school students and
adult learners to succeed academically and
transition to post-secondary education and
employment.

Many high school students face challenges in
completing high school. We found that

guidance and career planning were not being
offered consistently to students. For example,
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only two of the seven high schools we
examined had teachers assigned to help
students navigate the challenging path to
post-secondary education and employment.
Students were being offered hands-on
learning experiences, but few had work
placements that would help them build on
these learning experiences. We also found
that Nunavut Arctic College did limited
outreach to inform high school students of its
programs.

We found that despite the many challenges
students faced, the Department of Education
did not have a strategy that outlined actions it
and other partners could take to help students
graduate and transition from high school.
Furthermore, despite difficulties in hiring and
keeping staff, the department did not have a
recruitment and retention strategy to address
its human resource needs.

We found that adult learners also faced
barriers to furthering their education. For
example, over the past five school years,
Nunavut Arctic College did not offer its adult
basic education program for adult learners
who wanted to develop their literacy and
academic skills in most of Nunavut’s
communities. Adult learners also struggled to
access the territory’s online adult high school
program, and once they were accepted into
the program, getting enough credits to obtain
their high school diplomas was a further
problem. Lack of access to adult basic
education can prevent learners from earning
their high school diplomas to enter the trades
and other post-secondary programs,
including those offered by the college.

In contrast the college did offer its Essential
Skills program, which prepares learners for
semi-skilled jobs, more frequently and in
more communities.
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According to Nunavut Arctic College, many

applicants required academic upgrading to be
eligible to attend its programs. We found that
the college offered preparatory programs, but
because of funding constraints, it could offer
them in only a few communities. As a result,
many adult learners would be forced to leave
their communities to access these programs.

Learners taking these programs are eligible
for financial aid. However, the aid does not
cover the expenses of dependants. We also
found that financial aid was not available to
adults taking high school courses, learners
taking most adult basic education courses, or
learners studying part time. This limited
access to financial aid could be a further
barrier for adult learners who wish to
complete their education.

We made 12 recommendations to the three
organizations involved in the audit and all
agreed with our recommendations.

Nunavut’s people are its greatest asset and
education is critical their success and the
future of Nunavut. It is important that the
Department of Education, Nunavut Arctic
College, and the Department of Family
Services work together to overcome the gaps
and barriers we noted in the audit to help
high school students and adult learners get
the support they need to succeed.

This concludes my opening statement. | am
happy to answer any questions you may
have.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following our agenda, the guests from the
government departments also have comments
to make. First will be the Department of
Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Ullukkut. Good afternoon.
Bonjour. Mr. Chairman and fellow Members
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of the Committee, | am pleased to appear
today before the Standing Committee on

Oversight of Government Operations and
Public Accounts.

We thank you for the invitation to respond to
the findings and recommendations contained
in the Office of the Auditor General’s (OAG)
report on support for high school students
and adult learners.

We also thank the Office of the Auditor
General for their report and for their valuable
work, ensuring that the Government of
Nunavut delivers the highest quality
education and training to Nunavummiut
needed to make positive contributions to
society and to find meaningful employment.

Mr. Chairman, we take the OAG’s concerns,
work, and recommendations seriously. We
recognize the efforts that have to be made by
all stakeholders, including the Department of
Education, to address the issues identified in
this report.

Mr. Chairman, we would like to introduce
Arielle Stockdale, Director of Policy and
Planning, and Mary Kilabuk, Manager of
Policy and Planning, who are accompanying
me today.

Every child, from the first day they enter
early childhood education programming to
the day they graduate either as a high school
student or as an adult learner, is directly
impacted by the programs, resources, and
services the Department of Education
provides. Delivering quality education and
training is the primary mandate of the
department. Following the principle of
Pijitsirniq, the Department of Education
wants to ensure that all of Nunavut’s
children, youth and young adults receive the
necessary education to contribute to the
territory in a positive and meaningful way.
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As part of this mandate, the department
teaches children, youth, and adult learners
foundational skills in subjects such as
literacy, mathematics, and science. However,
we also provide a wide range of programs
and services that encourages and supports the
principle of Pilimmaksarnig/Pijariugsarniq,
whether that is through the Aulajaaqtut
curriculum strand and its career and program
planning or through the various career camps
that give students information and hands-on
experience for a variety of career options.
The department is providing students with
opportunities to learn through mentorships,
observation and experience, and assisting
them with their future post-secondary and
career planning. These programs and services
ensure young people will have the ability to
make meaningful decisions that will not only
affect themselves positively but also their
communities and Nunavut.

Offering Nunavut’s high school students and
adult learners programs and services that
develop their ability to find meaningful
employment as well as providing them with
the necessary skills needed for a fulfilling
future is additionally reflected in the
Sivummuagpalliajjutivut priority stated in the
Government of Nunavut’s mandate,
Turaaqtavut.

This report by the OAG is both significant
and instructive because it aligns with the
Department of Education’s and the
Government of Nunavut’s mandated priority
of delivering quality education that results in
satisfying and meaningful employment for
Nunavummiut. The report also identifies key
areas that the Department of Education needs
to address in order to fulfill its mandate and
offer its high school students and adult
learners the programs and services necessary
to improve their ability to pursue post-
secondary education and find employment.
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Of the nine recommendations the OAG made
that were specific to the Department of
Education, the department would like to
highlight the actions the department has
taken on five of them since the report was
made public in June 2019. However, we
would like to state that these actions are not
the only actions the department has taken.
The Department of Education has been
working hard to ensure that all the
recommendations found in this report will be
fulfilled in a timely manner, with key
coordination and collaboration with other
departments as needed.

Firstly, we draw your attention to paragraph
87 of the report, which states the department
should “review the requirements needed to
obtain a high school diploma through the
Pathway to Adult Secondary School
Graduation program (PASS) and determine
whether alternative requirements for
obtaining a Nunavut high school diploma
should be established for adult learners.”

In the report the department stated that it
would be reviewing the PASS program
requirements to obtain a High School
Diploma, particularly looking to resolve a
policy gap so that all graduates of the PASS
program can be issued high school diplomas.

Since the release of the report, a request for
ministerial decision formalizing a seven-
course graduation requirement for the PASS
program was approved in July 2019. An
operational directive is currently being
developed to support these changes.

The Department of Education is now
collaborating with Nunavut Arctic College to
design and implement a directive that will
outline the procedures for staff to follow
when issuing secondary school diplomas to
those who complete the program’s seven-
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course graduation requirement, which
includes the graduation-level course from
each of the five general strands and two
additional courses at the grade 12 level.

As of September 2019, 79 adult learners are
currently enrolled in PASS. The program is
active in 15 communities: Arviat, Baker
Lake, Cambridge Bay, Cape Dorset, Clyde
River, Coral Harbour, Hall Beach, Igaluit,
Kugluktuk, Pond Inlet, Rankin Inlet,
Resolute Bay, Sanikiluag, Taloyoak, and
Whale Cove.

Mr. Chairman, the second recommendation
the department will address can be found in
paragraph 59 of the report, stating the
department should, “in collaboration with
other departments and partners, increase
students’ access to opportunities for hands-
on learning, including work placements or
cooperative education options.

Several actions have taken place since the
release of this report. One is that the
Department of Education is currently
assessing the policies and processes
associated with work experience and special
projects courses to determine the feasibility
of their incorporation into the PASS program
as a framework for offering work placements
and cooperative education opportunities to
more learners.

The department’s Curriculum Develop
Division Transition Team has also been
tasked with reviewing the factors affecting
the ability of schools to offer hands-on
learning opportunities, such as work
experience and cooperative learning. Some
examples include:

e The second Nunavut Health
Careers Camp held in Igaluit in
May 2019, partnering with
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Nunavut Arctic College, the
Department of Health, Nunavut
Tunngavik Inc., and the
Northern Ontario School of
Medicine; and,

e The first annual Iniuniit Career
Fair in Baker Lake in May
2019, collaborating with the
Department of Family Services,
Agnico-Eagle, the Hamlet of
Baker Lake, as well as several
businesses, service organization
and education institutions.

We are continuing to develop more hands-on
learning opportunities for high school
students as supporting the development of a
STEM (science, technology, engineering,
math) Careers Camp that will be held in
Cambridge Bay in September 2020. Partners
for this camp[include Nunavut Arctic
College, Makigiagta Corporation, the
Kitikmeot Inuit Association and Polar
Knowledge Canada.

The department is hoping to develop more
work experience and career planning
activities and opportunities for students like
these to ensure that they can find
employment that is fulfilling and meaningful.

The third recommendation we would like to
note, Mr. Chairman, is found in paragraph
32, stating that the department “...should
take steps to improve the quality of
attendance data.” Since the report’s release
there are two actions the department has
taken to address this recommendation.

The first action took place over the summer
of 2019, where the Department of Education
Information Technology division added two
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new staff members to the Student Ifo System
Team operations. One staff member is an
experienced database expert, while the other
Is providing much needed organization
support to the team.

The second action involves improving
training to staff at all levels. In July 2019, the
Information Technology division purchased
an online video training subscription
software called GoToTraining.This software
allows the Student Info System Team to
provide directed, specific and targeted video
training sessions for staff, such as principals,
vice-principals, secretaries and teachers, in
short online sessions. These sessions can be
10 to 15 minutes in length and can also be
recorded and hosted online so they cvan be
viewed anytime by staff.

Since this software was acquired, the Student
Information System Team have been able to
host several training sessions — both
scheduled and on-demand — to school staff
when time has been made available. The
software is easy to use and training sessions
can be quickly started and delivered by the
Student Information System Team to school
staff so they can gain a better visual sense of
the tasks being presented.

The Student Information System Team will
be offering these training sessions with the
GoToTraining software between now and the
Christmas break, addressing key issues such
as reviewing the administrative side of
attendance tasks and requirement to ensure
overall school attendance tasks and
requirements to ensure overall school
attendance data accuracy, reviewing how
classroom attendance is done, and focusing
on how teachers can ensure attendance data
is recorded accurately.

The Student Information System Team is
confident that with the increased staff, the
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new video training software and assistance
provided by other divisions, such as the
Regional School Operations, a better
foundation is being laid to provide staff with
support and training in the Student
Information System, all with the goal of
improving the quality of attendance data
from Nunavut’s schools.

Mr. Chairman, the final actions of the
Department of Education we highlight are in
regard to educator retention and recruitment.
It is well known that Nunavut needs to
recruit a significant number of educators. To
slow this annual need to recruit educators,
the Office of the Auditor General
recommends, in paragraphs 38 and 39 of the
report, that the department should:

1. Develop and carry out a strategy
to recruit and retain staff in
schools and throughout the
department;

2. Periodically assess the
effectiveness of its strategy and
take corrective actions as
required; and finally

3. Develop specific actions to
encourage students to enrol in
post-secondary education
programs that would lead to
positions in the department.

Over the past year the department has been
developing a 10-year educator retention and
recruitment strategy. We will be
collaborating with stakeholders, including
Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated, Coalition
of Nunavut District Education Authorities,
Nunavut Teachers Association, and the
Commission scolaire francophone du
Nunavut, to develop this comprehensive
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strategy to address the growing educator
vacancies in the territory.

The initial intent of the department is for the
strategy to take a three-pronged, integrated
approach with each item developed at the
same time. This means actions from all three
approaches will occur simultaneously rather
than deploying one approach at a time.

One of the three approaches focuses on the
short-term needs of the department to recruit
and retain educators, ensuring schools are
fully staffed. The second approach focuses
on the long-term goal of the sustainable
development of Inuit and Inuktut-speaking
educators. Finally, the third approach will be
developing sustainable retention tactics to
keep Nunavut educators in teaching roles,
significantly reducing the number of annual
departures and the need to recruit a high
number of educators.

Mr. Chairman, while this 10-year educator
retention and recruitment strategic plan is
being developed, the Department of
Education has been taking steps to improve
the actions it takes to retain and recruit
educators. To retain educators and build
capacity from within, the department has
been building on the work developed in our
Inuit Employment Plan.

The department has been promoting existing
Government of Nunavut-wide training and
mentorship programs, such as the
Sivuligtiksat program. This program is
designed to increase Nunavut Inuit
representation in management-level positions
by providing an on-the-job internship. The
department currently has an Inuit staff
member interning as a superintendent of
schools. This internship means the
department now has for the first time an Inuk
superintendent of schools in each of the three
regional school operations.
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The department has also been taking action
to retain educators by listening and acting on
their requests for more training and
resources. Through the various conferences
and during the annual professional
development week, educators have been
receiving timely and current training in best
practices. For example, this school year all
principals, llinniarvimmi Inuusilirijiit,
student support teachers, and student support
assistants will be receiving training based on
the safe and caring schools initiative, which
will enhance the safety and well-being of
students, staff, and community members.

The department also has continued with its
efforts to develop Inuktut resources for our
educators by producing over 650 Inuktut and
250 Inuinnagtun books as well as creating
two new language applications, one for
vocabulary and one for writing Inuktut
syllabics.

Finally, the department this year has more
educators in indeterminate positions as
opposed to term positions, providing greater
job stability and the potential for higher
retention.

As for the department’s efforts to recruit
educators, there have been many
improvements this past year, which has
ensured that all Nunavut schools opened on
time. For example, the department has
expanded its efforts to recruit educators
online by enabling potential candidates to
apply for available positions through two
educator-based job [portals],
ApplicationtoEducation.com and
EducationCanada.com. Both of these
websites are also linked to the Department of
Education’s website.

The department attended several career fairs
and northern trade shows to promote the
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teaching profession. Between January 2018
[and] May 2019 department staff visited
university campus job fairs at 37 post-
secondary institutions across Canada. In
April and May these staff members were
joined by a member of the coalition of
district education authorities at job fairs in
Toronto and at Memorial University in St.
John’s, Newfoundland.

Staff from the Department of Education and
the Department of Human Resources also
attended trade shows and career fairs in
Clyde River and lgaluit in March 2019. They
also attended the Nunavut Trade Show here
in lgaluit earlier this month.

Mr. Chairman, in an effort to promote
professions in education to students in grades
10 to 12, the department sent information
packages about the Nunavut Teacher
Education Program to every Nunavut high
school in May 2019. These packages
included a video and a pamphlet. In
collaboration with Nunavut Arctic College,
plans are underway to produce a new
promotional video, refresh the information
package, and provide them to schools again
during the 2019-2020 school year.

The department continued its “Teach in
Nunavut” online advertisement campaign,
focusing many of these online ads in Ontario
and Saskatchewan this spring where there
was a significant number of educator
positions cut. Also, because of these cuts to
education in these provinces, the
Communications Division directly contacted
220 educators in these provinces via Twitter,
encouraging them to apply to teach in
Nunavut.

Mr. Chairman, these actions the Department
of Education has taken since the release of
the OAG's report are only a sampling of the
work that is happening to ensure that
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Nunavut’s high school students and adult
learners are able to receive the education and
training needed to pursue post-secondary
education and find meaningful employment.
Nunavummiut deserve the ability to attain
the careers they wish. It is the department’s
job, in collaboration with its Government of
Nunavut colleagues and other stakeholders,
to make sure this continues to happen.

Again, the Department of Education thanks
the Office of the Auditor General for their
work in developing this report and the
standing committee’s invitation to speak and
respond accordingly. We welcome questions
and comments from committee members.
Qujannamiik, Koana, thank you, merci.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Members will have a lot of questions.
According to the agenda, Nunavut Arctic

College, Mr. Suvega, you can start right now.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman and Members of the Committee of
Government Operations and Public
Accounts. It is our pleasure to be here to
discuss the Nunavut Arctic College
responses to the Office of the Auditor
General of Canada’s Report on Support for
High School students and Adult Learners.
My name is Pauloosie Suvega, and | am the
President of Nunavut Arctic College. Here
with me is Rebecca Mearns, Vice President
of Nunavut Arctic College. | also want to
acknowledge two people that we have the
privilege of working with. The Chairperson
of the Nunavut Arctic College Board of
Governors, Sue Ball, and the Minister
responsible for the Nunavut Arctic College,
the Hon. Patterk Netser.

Nunavut Arctic College has a significant
presence in our territory. As Nunavut’s only
designated and accredited post-secondary
institution, we offer many learning
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opportunities through our seven program
streams. Along with our three campuses in
Cambridge Bay, Rankin Inlet, and Igaluit, we
have 22 community learning centres across
the territory. These learning centers and
campuses represent our reach into the
communities, and our invitation to
individuals to become learners with us.

| am proud to state that Nunavut Arctic
College continues to reach beyond Nunavut,
extending our hand to develop partnerships
with different institutions. Most recently the
college entered a partnership with Memorial
University in Newfoundland and Labrador.
This partnership will enhance the college’s
development in terms of administration,
northern research opportunities, and program
expansion. This is in addition to the
partnerships we continue to have with other
institutions, including the University of
Saskatchewan and Dalhousie University.

Nunavut Arctic College is also committed to
working with our Government of Nunavut
partners, especially the departments of
Education and Family Services. Together we
are able to provide the necessary programs
and services for all learners, both young and
mature, in achieving their academic
objectives and participating in the territory’s
growing economy.

As identified in the report, the college
understands its role in ensuring that learners
are aware of the many courses and programs
available to them, as well as requirements for
admission. I am pleased to be able to inform
the Committee that the college has recruited
staff in our Communications, Marketing and
Recruitment Division. We now have a
communications manager, a promotional
material specialist, and a recruitment
specialist. The main goal of this division is to
utilize marketing campaigns and recruitment
outreach activities to increase awareness and
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understanding of available programs support,
as well as increase levels of enrolment
throughout the territory. This team will work
closely with the community learning centres,
campuses, faculty, frontline staff, and
interested stakeholders to help increase our
reach to Nunavummiut across the territory.

In speaking to the second recommendation
for the college, which focuses on access and
support for adult learners, again, we agree
with the auditor’s recommendation and we
continue to make strides in this area on
different fronts. For example, our college and
distance learning program continues to
engage Nunavummiut in conversations about
learner needs in their community. They have
streamlined the process for community
feedback on program requests through their
community needs assessment.

The college continues to update its website
with up-to-date information and material and
are working to have information also
available in Inuktut and French on the
website. We are also working to improve our
Student Information System (SIS). The
college has recently hired an IT strategic
advisor and systems analyst to help lead the
finalization of the SIS project as well as
manage a digitization and reporting project.
We believe this work will vastly improve our
ability in sharing relevant data to
stakeholders, thereby allowing for informed
decisions to be made on the strategic
direction in academic upgrading, adult
literacy, and long-term program planning.

In closing, | would like to stress that Nunavut
Arctic College is well aware it has an
important role to play in preparing
Nunavummiut for careers in the territory’s
economy. Our goal is to continue to strive for
excellence in supporting learners to become
engaged citizens, living in healthy
communities with strong economies that they
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help to build. We are continuously
examining our programs and services to
ensure that they are meeting the needs of our
clients.

We thank the Office of the Auditor General
of Canada and their team for their work on
this report. | welcome any questions that
Members may have. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following our agenda, the Department of
Family Services can now begin. Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I am Yvonne Niego.
(interpretation ends) Here with me today are
Family Services Director of Career
Development Robert Clift as well as Family
Services Executive Director Arieanna
Herimensik in the gallery.

(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and Members of the Standing Committee on
Oversight of Government Operations and
Public Accounts, for inviting the Department
of Family Services to appear before you
today. (interpretation ends) | am pleased to
be here discuss the department’s
commitment to supporting Nunavummiut
obtain quality education and training and to
discuss the department’s response to the
Office of the Auditor General of Canada’s
report on support for high school students
and adult learners.

The Department of Family Services is
committed to helping students and adult
learners achieve their goals and prepare them
for future employment opportunities. We do
this by offering financial assistance to help
offset the costs associated with pursuing
post-secondary education or training.
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The Career Development Division within the
department provides two different types of
student funding: Financial Assistance for
Nunavut Students, known as FANS, and
Adult Learning and Training Supports,
known as ALTS. The department is
continuously looking for ways to ensure
students and adult learners are accessing
these services and receiving the assistance
they require, and has made concerted efforts
to improve upon the delivery and content of
the financial aid programs and reduce the
amount of personal financial burden that
students incur.

The department has also made efforts to
develop necessary guidelines and procedures
to enable transparent and efficient collection
of outstanding student loan debts. To ensure
students are aware of the various programs
that are offered, the eligibility requirements,
and necessary documentation to submit,
FANS information and application forms are
available from the department’s webpage,
secondary schools, Nunavut Arctic College,
career development officers, the FANS office
in Arviat, and the Nunavut Student Funding
Handbook.

The Auditor General’s report provided one
direct recommendation for the Department of
Family Services, which was for the
department to review the financial aid
programs to ensure there are no unintended
barriers to adult learners wishing to upgrade
their education.

As stated in the report, the department agrees
with this recommendation and is currently
reviewing its financial aid programs. To date
the department has prepared an analysis of
the gaps in financial aid programs. From the
administrative data review, the department
has identified specific areas of concern and is
currently reviewing options for addressing
these issues.

DobbeNJC Codd <*MPNNY D> D>e/LC
DIy AC AL Lea SPrsPabde Pabbo®
AbJNPNa®, DM IC NP<HJ Aocnibde
SOD>ANAC®IC PPENPLLLMLE Pabbcnose
ARNMOJ Acnto“s Cod<d SPIPabC>C
Aocnrbd O aoaAS//LEHNe PAat
AFLONDSLYLC acSPNEDSeINe s,

OPa®/NCHNA®I®) Coa. A\ DS
A <bELAJLD KPP N NNL Do
AbY®IAc N RCN*T 0a 2
Acto<d®No® A*a“c“H Acod®Na®

A O NAPLT T 05 Pa bbb o nly>Jse
QLsePECS NN+ ob HSL*LE Ao\ o
Acto<S DS Ho

Ac*o<tboian >R,

CR DDLU AL APh N C.
bNLAC SboDA*a® AScdYPNSbSae<C
PDLAENS SIAINo<ICS. (ONANJC)
SgyRDC CLLSYLL®YDPNLLADS NNGSH
AcnlLocL*Ne ot (OhNed*NeIsh)

L= 54\, AbYRPCSb,

APYXVPCSe: | ’a. CAL bNL*NPRDC

Lt ore, Codd APKIPC>c DI DSh>PeN¢
o JSLC. CAL bNLAP>SbN®b
AA®PAPLCYLNC @ b **MCD5®

AN APLLISLLC, >d LaLeDSeND>sbNeb
bNLRAC, AA®dNENb® 5NV Mo

QO **CD%,

Da DodbednyDILI® 4PDS/La<IGeNJC
A*LAACHLE 5. ORANJC)
A*LAC*LNALY2C Dabbse
D>sb>Yno<soNéd Dol

YDt aeI%® Db LSAC 1-M° 15-¢
L<ALSGEDC 1-T0 4-_C Dodbl. 4PN LSPb
QUYL Do bNLo® I Na*Na
Acto <N LALST® 5-T° 15-1¢ <L
A*LSE ARNSHOL®EI® A% S of
Acto<®No® LAULAC 15-T% 25-¢,

(Ohned+Nes) Lo CAL
AA®APQ PN 5C bNLAC, T CHI,

23



(interpretation) The department is committed
to strengthening our support for Nunavut
students and adult learners and ensuring that
a lack of finances does not pose a barrier to
post-secondary education.

This concludes my opening comments. |
would be pleased to answer questions that
Members may have. (interpretation ends)
Thank you also to the Office of the Auditor
General for all of their work. (interpretation)
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following in our agenda, as we’re done with
the opening comments, obviously my
colleagues are eager to ask their questions
and have many questions to ask. We will
deal with the report in three parts.
(interpretation ends) We have divided the
report up into kind of three chunks for the
purposes of our discussions today. The first
section will be paragraphs 1 to 15 located on
pages 1 to 4 of the report, and the other two
sections are, the second section is based
around the high school students and that goes
from pages 5 to 15, and the third section is
based around the adult learner topic, pages
15 to 25. (interpretation) You can now ask
questions, Members. Ms. Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. My question is regarding the
Office of the Auditor General’s review of
Yukon’s education system from kindergarten
to grade 12. My question is: what did you
find during that review and are the services
better over there or can we learn something
from it? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Deldong.

Mr. DeJong: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
think 1 will divert this one to Mr. McKenzie.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Our office, as you had mentioned, did table
an audit on education in the Yukon as well.
The scope of the audit was different. It
looked at specific issues; different issues that
the audit team had identified.

One of the things that | would note was that
one of the conclusions from the audit was
that they were also struggling with respect to
understanding the gaps, particularly between
I would say, the gap or the difference
between student outcomes between First
Nations students and non-First Nations
students. Some of our recommendations were
very directed at the department to better
understand what those root causes were and
to put in efforts to close those gaps.

There is one thing that | would note that they
were able to, and my understanding is the
Department of Education in the Yukon has
been collecting information on graduation
rates, so they have an understanding of
graduation rates between First Nations
students and non-First Nations students. So
that is a positive, but at the same time our
office found that there had been little effort
to understand what those root causes were, as
I had mentioned earlier. One of our
recommendations was that the department do
more analysis and put in place actions to, on
the one hand, understand why are those
differences occurring and to take actions to
close those gaps.

On the one hand, I think that the similarities
would be that they are also facing challenges
in terms of ensuring that all students, in this
case, whether they were First Nations or non-
First Nations, are succeeding at school and
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that they are taking the appropriate action to
try to address those challenges.

So I don’t know if I have any specific best
practices to draw from that. | would note that
I’m somewhat familiar with some of the
initiatives based on discussions we’ve had
also with the Education department in the
Northwest Territories. More recently, earlier
this year we haven’t looked at it from an
audit perspective, but they were introducing
career and academic advisors. There was a
team that was put in place. If I’'m not
mistaken, it’s a team of six individuals that
are meant to cover the whole territory, and
they are to reach out to students both in
person; so going to communities to meet
with students, but also to maintain
connection with them after the fact, either
through online or through the telephone.

So they are introducing some interesting,
what | thought were some interesting,
alternatives or good practices potentially, in
terms of that world of providing students
with advice, both in terms of career and
academic advice. From what | understand
based on the department’s business plan,
they are also introducing this notion of
alternative graduation options for students
and it’s to be introduced, I believe, this year
for grade nine students. So my understanding
is that they are offering the traditional
diploma, but also another diploma that
contains the same core academic
requirements that you would need for a
regular diploma, but where some of the
optional courses are more tailored to the
interests of the student in terms of the
workforce. It’s an interesting approach and
it’s something that we’ve talked about in our
report in terms of providing these types of
alternative options to students as a means of
motivating them and also keeping them in
school potentially.
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Then again, that is in the Northwest
Territories, and that’s not something we
specifically audited, but coming back to your
question about the Yukon though, I think
there were some similarities that we noticed
in terms of the challenges that the department
there is facing, and some of our
recommendations are similar to what we’ve
made here in Nunavut about putting in place
strategies to help close those gaps in terms of
student outcomes. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. The last question I would like
to ask is on page 3 of the Auditor General’s
report. You note that your audit did not
examine opinions of the district education
authorities. Given the legislative role of
Nunavut’s elected district education
authorities in developing such policies as
registration, attendance, and the
Inuugatigiitsiarniqg Code of Conduct, my
question is: why were the activities of district
education authorities not included in the
audit? Thank you, Mr. Chairman. That’s my
last question.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Towtongie. There was an issue with the
audio system. The interpreter was audible,
but it was on the Inuktitut channel.
(interpretation ends) We had an issue there
with the translation. Just for clarity, if you
could repeat your question, please, Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) On page
3 of your report you noted that your audit did
not examine activities of the district
education authorities. Given the legislated
role of Nunavut’s elected district education
authorities, they develop policies such as
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registration, attendance, and the
Inuuqatigiitsiarniq Code of Conduct, why
were the activities of district education
authorities not included in the audit? That’s
my final question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
You’re correct. As we state in our audit, we
did not specifically audit the activities of the
district education authorities. As they were
locally elected officials, we felt that it was
more appropriate to focus on the Government
of Nunavut departments, in this case in
particular the Department of Education.

You had mentioned, for example, they do
have a role with respect to attendance
policies, and we do note some comments in
the report around attendance with respect to
the Department of Education that were
discussed also in the department’s opening
statement.

I would note, however, that we did make an
effort to meet with the district education
authority representatives when they were
available in the communities that we were at
as well as the coalition representing the
district education authorities. We certainly
tried to get their input where we could.
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just to clarify that
before we go to the next name on the list,
which communities in particular did you visit
as part of this audit and which schools?
Thank you. Mr. McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: We visited seven schools.
We made an effort to visit schools in all three
regions. We visited the school in Arctic Bay,
Kimmirut, Igaluit, Rankin Inlet, Chesterfield
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Inlet, Baker Lake, and Kugluktuk. We also
visited Cambridge Bay, but that was more to
speak to the college given they had a campus
there. | should note as well that in Rankin
Inlet we met with college officials in Rankin
Inlet.

There were a couple of other schools that we
had identified that we wanted to visit, but for
a variety of reasons, whether it was lack of
staff or a situation involving the community,
made it difficult for us to visit those two
communities, so we were unable to visit with
them.

I should note as well that during those visits,
we met with a wide range of individuals that
included, for example, school leaders, so
principals and vice-principals, teachers,
regional executive directors, DEA
representatives; | had it mentioned. We also
met with career development officers who
work for the Department of Family Services,
adult educators, private sector
representatives, as well as counsellors or
teachers who had been assigned that role in
certain schools.

I should note that we may have contacted
some of those representatives over the phone
because they were not necessarily in the
communities that we visited, but we reached
out to them via telephone. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) | was wondering if we
have to... . Good afternoon. Welcome to the
House today for everybody who is looking at
TV, radio, and who are present here. It’s a
very interesting topic and an important one.

I guess my first question to start off is: |
noted that your report is focused on some of
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the links between education and employment
in Nunavut, but what specific factors
prompted your office to focus both on the
high school students and adult learners in the
same audit? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr...I’m sorry. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There are a number of factors. One, | think,
was just the overall importance or
significance of the topic and the fact that it
has the notion of providing education to
children, youth and adult learners, as we note
in the first paragraph of our report, is a
priority of the current government and has
been the priority of previous governments as
well.

We also recognized the close link between
the government’s obligation to achieve a
representative workforce as part of the
Nunavut Land Claims Agreement, and we
saw that there was still a ways to go there in
terms of achieving that goal and we saw that
high school students were essentially that
future supply of employees in the
government, and we wanted to know what
support was being provided to them to help
them transition through high school, achieve
their High School Diploma, and move on
either into the workforce directly or into
post-secondary.

We were also conscious of the fact that a
number of individuals were leaving school
without getting a High School Diploma or
they may have graduated from high school
and still required some additional education
either, for example, to get courses they may
not have taken in high school in order to get
into a post-secondary education program, and
also the number of individuals who do not
have a High School Diploma according to
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Statistics Canada, as we note in our report. |
think it’s in paragraph 60.

There were a number of factors and we
didn’t want to really treat them as separate;
we saw them actually as very much the same
part of a continuum. There are people who
are in high school now. There are people who
are outside of high school but still have goals
or objectives for themselves to improve or
ladder up, if you will, in terms of their
academics. We thought it would be important
to try to look at both together, again, because
of the priority that has been given to
education and also recognizing that these
individuals are very much potential future
employees for both the government but also
the private sector, for example, in the mining
sector here in Nunavut. We thought it was
valuable to look at both of them together as
part of a continuum, if you will. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. Thank you for
your response. My next question is to the
Department of Education.

The Auditor General’s report focused on a
number of factors that impact the
department’s ability to support high school
students in transitioning to post-secondary
education. Does the department feel if there
were any factors that weren’t addressed in
the Auditor General’s report that you feel
should have been? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It was comprehensive and, as we prepared in
our opening, we are moving forward with
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addressing the recommendations.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Angnakak, maybe
you want to rephrase the question. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: | guess what | was trying to
get at is: in the Auditor General’s report they
focus on a number of factors, and those
which impact the Department of Education’s
ability to support high school students in
transitioning to a post-secondary education.
Does the department feel there were maybe
other factors that might not have been
addressed in the Auditor General’s report
that you feel should have been? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) | hope that is a bit
clearer. Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. We acknowledged that, and
the department recognizes the need to
support transition for all of our learners, in
particular at the high school level. For this
recommendation we have established a new
curriculum transition program team and they
will look at supporting all of our high school
students’ transition into areas of work,
including cooperative experiences, hands-on
learning, and continuing to expand in that
area. So it was a valid area to be examined.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Angnakak, I will
just try and phrase this a bit different. The
things that were included in the scope of the
audit, is there anything that maybe should
have been included that wasn’t; say for
example, the DEA function or maybe the
effects of language in the school, or language

Ab/PCSe: 'a. ™ LSabbee.

dSabbse: DP/NP<IbA%a PLI*L: I ANC
AA®APLN? M AJCC CALbA®Q D™L.
CALbA®a cSc*L.

AP/ RRPCSe: L'a. AQ\bbb*aSa<®INC
Q. **eD%, [C GL>C,

GL>C OLNNNJO): Sdveal™®, AbYRPBCSe,

D> oNed= 5, YD JAPINL DG
Ac® o< nrbd® of. PICNPseb>Jsb
SH>ALPNRAS NNGTAL DSbSebDLLC

>c G DSLC NSLDLe*PL%®Do? oa.ceo®.
So>ALY*L 25-%ULLC 0acC 0a 2T 40
DLCo Ac®o<SA\Sb®DNP, AFLAC
SH>ALPNSRAS Podb L 0a DLl

Cd%@ > JeILSo L LC? Sb>NLT oo
NSL>YEPLU®IDAQ AC baco <<
0a 2Ll sdyeal®, AbYRDCS,

AS/RRPCSS: L', [ Lo

LbMc® OLANUC): sdvreal™, Ab/RpCeo,
0a.2¢ o0a.c*NC RN PONIDAS,
AP RUOE AP LIS, Acb
IONsbSoehcc N DL So<edst AL

> A®RC>abC, oacclLo DSbDYNC
AP LECDVJCDLTLLCECDS®
0a.cdNN*a AcCKYSdND<S <ELLNL. A,
IONHGL®eIMae >¢.nL®eC>>aebC
0accLSdN2C AchASINCLD< .
sgbeal®, Ab/RDCSe,

Ab/PCSe: ’q. [C GL>C,

GL>c (OLANJO): Sdbal™®, AbYRDCS®,
alDA*Qc_® SbPpPNGHLHo
002G bacclG o™ > G AP e
Arn<DYdob DHUYNGOLC. oacclodd
SHD>ANSC >N > L,

CRa bNe*Lo 89 aND>NCL®

@A A®/LLAC LSP%ob SgcNegohegh
AchA*a® SoD>ANRCM oot <L
AcbPNNLE A%q S 0¢ Ach<.of,
SH>ALN®N 5P A AC AN g

32



use? Is there anything that from the
Department of Education’s perspective that
would have provided a more complete
picture of these issues? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. As we know, the education of our
students is relying on a number of
individuals, stakeholders, and partners,
which include our DEAs, our parents in
communities, our partners with Nunavut
Arctic College. So that would have perhaps
provided more detailed information when
you’re looking at our learners as well as the
resources and funding that is available to
support the work and the program of the
Department of Education. (interpretation)
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Okay. Thank
you. Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) | would like to ask the
Nunavut Arctic College as well, basically the
same questions; if they feel that there might
have been factors missing that did not
address their situation and their ability to be
able to support adult learners in transitioning
to a post-secondary education or
employment. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. They were already mentioned. We
partner with other groups, with universities,
or the government. They affect our work, as
well as other things that need to be done. |
think more thought should have been put into
this matter. Today, when we’re trying to
make decisions, the three groups; college,
education, and Family Services, are
collaborating more closely and better when
we’re trying to answer certain things.
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We try to respond in a tripartite way. Maybe
that could have been better looked at on how
the three parties could work together more.
We can think of all sorts of things together.
Maybe there is a way to make it so that we
work more closely together. It’s better now
where we can basically give out the same
answer on a topic.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak (interpretation): Many of us
want to ask questions, so I'll take a break for
now and ask another question later.

Chairman (interpretation): I’'m sure you will
have another opportunity. Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and good afternoon. My first question is for
the Department of Education.

Earlier the auditor’s department stated that
they visited seven communities and | know
we have 25 communities in Nunavut with
over 40 schools. Do you feel that the
auditor’s report was representative of
Nunavut as a whole? Like the findings that
they found in these seven communities, is
this common throughout Nunavut? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Nunavut communities are very
diverse. There are some commonalities,
however... of course it would have been
beneficial to be able to visit each one of our
schools and communities given the language
dialect differences, our communities and our
learners and the differentiation. So yes, it
would have been beneficial to visit all of our
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communities and our schools. Qujannamiik,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you. I think in any
audit it would be very difficult to visit every
community in Nunavut. We are very spread
out and it would be very difficult for the
Auditor General’s office to visit every
community in such an audit.

My next question will be for the Auditor
General’s office. In paragraph 89 of your
report you indicated that in a couple of high
schools you examined there were dedicated
classrooms for adult learners. Did your audit
also examine community learning centers,
and if so, in which communities? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In the course of our community visits we did
visit community learning centres, but it was
really more as a part of our focus on the adult
learners. [When] we went to communities,
that position may have been vacant, so we
weren’t able to actually go to the community
learning centres per se, but it was really more
not so much to assess those facilities, but
really more as a means of meeting the
individuals that worked there.

The one take-away, the one observation that |
would suggest or make was, certainly space
was an issue in terms of the number of
programs that the college offers, and they’re
limited in terms of the space that they can
offer those in. So | guess that would be one
observation that we had. It was just the
ability of the college to meet that need to
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deliver a variety of different programs but
with limited space.

In terms of what really were our visits; they
were really more to meet with the adult
learners... sorry, adult educators as part of
the adult basic education part of the audit.
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
According to my list of names, Mr. Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. First of all, welcome all of you
who are attending this meeting.

As we are all aware, Nunavut is unique. My
colleague asked a question on part of the
situation in the Yukon, and we’re different
from them. We have more Inuit in Nunavut,
and the Yukon has a smaller Inuit population,
and that is where the differences are.

My question will be to the Auditor General
of Canada. I'll ask it in English, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Your audit
focuses on supports and barriers to high
school students and adult learners in
transitioning from high school education to
post-secondary education and employment
within the wage-based economy.

Why did your audit not also address the
educational activities intended to support
participation in the traditional or land-based
economy, such as harvesting food and skins
or producing goods like clothing and
artwork? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman
and Hon. Member. In terms of the activities
that would expose students to traditional
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activities and that part of the economy, as
part of our look at hands-on learning...and |
apologize; I’ll just go to that section. In
paragraph 56 we did look at the types of
hands-on learning that was being offered to
students. We did look at both programs or
courses that were aimed at providing students
with opportunities to learn about traditional
knowledge and activities, and we did see that
there were in fact schools that were offering
those types of courses. For example, we talk
about traditional knowledge and activities,
building igloos and kayaks, fishing, fox
trapping, and sewing.

In our view there are also other courses, as
we note, sustainable tourism and others as
hairstyling and those that may be more, as
you say, around the wage economy, but we
were certainly interested in knowing are
students being exposed to these other more
traditional types of activities because, in our
view, those are just as equally important for
students. In fact, even though it’s part of
the...we have it under like not necessarily
traditional knowledge or activities,
sustainable tourism, there’s certainly a
linkage between traditional and local
activities and sustainable tourism as well.

We also saw that not only was it providing
students opportunities in traditional
knowledge and activities, not only an
opportunity to expose them to potential areas
that they could go after high school, but also
as a means of making school more culturally
relevant, if you will, to students so that it
wasn’t all just about encouraging them to get
into a specific occupation, but there are other
more traditional activities that are equally
important and that can also encourage them
to stay in school and in fact could very much
be a valuable opportunity for them to get into
after high school as well. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.

Chairman. I also thank you for that response.
I’1l reiterate that those who are not
necessarily in school, unilingual Inuit had a
lot of education and they have more
knowledge than some of us in harvesting, in
treatment of animals or sewing, and they had
a lot of learning experience.

(interpretation ends) Again to the Auditor
General of Canada, on page 2 of your report,
paragraph 9 states, “Citizens whose
education is limited face fewer opportunities
for jobs and civic participation.” Can you
clarify what you mean by “civic
participation” in the context of Nunavut
society? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you Mr. Chairman.
“Civic participation”, when I reflect on that
word, | wonder if we did enough to put it
into plain language, but really, some people
who may not have sufficient literacy skills
can be hesitant... yes, I guess “hesitant”
might be the word; to get into activities such
as volunteering within their community,
following and understanding issues of local
concern that they can contribute to, for
example, political activities. Not having
those sufficient skills, whether they be in
literacy or numeracy, can make people
reluctant and hesitant to get into those areas.

I think civic participation is about being
engaged in the local community and being
able to feel confident to get in to understand
what some of those issues are that are being
discussed.
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I would also explain, we don’t note it
specifically in the report, but it also provides
individuals with an opportunity to more fully
participate in daily activities. We do know of
people who, for example, wanted to upgrade
their basic literacy skill so that they could
better follow issues that were being discussed
on Facebook, for example. It is a modern
form of communications that is now
pervasive in what seems like all
communities, but we understand that it is
very well used in communities within
Nunavut, and also individuals who wanted to
upgrade their literacy skills, or get their high
school diploma so that they can be a role
model within their families as well. There is
that civic notion, but also, I think at a
personal and family level, there are also
benefits.

I know that in the education framework that
the Department of Education produced back
in about 2000 and 2008 as well, they also
talk about that education; becoming a
capable and contributing human being was
an expectation for everyone which is a
reflection of Inuit social teachings and child
rearing. | think that, again, it is not just about
jobs, but it also about other aspects of
peoples’ daily lives where they can play a
role. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. My last question for now is to the
Department of Family Services.
(interpretation ends) On page 2 of the
Auditor General’s report, it indicates that the
audit reviewed two financial aid programs
that the Department of Family Services
manages and delivers for adult learners in
Nunavut. Just for clarification, we do
understand that one of them is going to be
moving over, but prior to that, as you know,
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[there is] the Financial Assistance for
Nunavut Students program and the Adult
Learning Training support program. What
other financial assistance programs exist for
adult learners in Nunavut, and what support
does your department provide to adult
learners to access them? (Interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego: INAUDIBLE

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Sorry about that. Just
for everybody present, just wait for the little
red light in front of you to come on before
you start speaking. We are going through
technical upgrades too, so it’s making things
more complicated than normal. Mr. Clift.

Mr. Clift: Thank you Mr. Chairman. As the
member has spoken, our primary programs
are FANS and ALTS.

FANS is intended for students who are going
on to post-secondary education, so that is
people who have graduated grade 12 or who
have achieved equivalency of grade 12 and
then are moving on to a college or university
program. ALTS is intended for all the other
types of learning. That can include basic
literacy. It includes apprenticeship, office
administration, and those types of programs.

All of the programs the Department of
Family Services administers come under
those two umbrellas. However, there are
many programs offered by the regional Inuit
organizations and some private societies
within the territory that either mirror or
supplement the work that we do within
Family Services. Informally there has been
cooperation between Kakivak and KPID with
FANS in terms of being able to top up the
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assistance that students get, so they would
get so much from FANS and then they would
get additional monies from KPID or
Kakivak.

We’re moving forward in discussions in
November with the regional Inuit
organizations and the Government of Canada
to have further discussions about how we can
better work together and layer our support so
that where we can’t provide all the needs for
our clients, whether it be in college,
university, or in vocational training, we can
find a way to layer it that between
organizations we can provide everything the
client needs. Those discussions are not far
advanced at this point, but that’s something
that we have taken up recently in a formal
way that before was quite informal.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following my list of names, as people of
Kugaaruk have questions too, Mr. Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnug (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Welcome, guests.

I have a question on the opening comments,
Mr. Chairman. First of all, in the Assistant
Auditor General’s opening comments in
paragraph 5, if I say it in English, it mentions
(interpretation ends) gaps and barriers.
(interpretation) I would like to understand
what the gaps and barriers are. | hope that
was understandable, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
If I could, in terms of the gaps and barriers,
in our report, we provide a summary of our
findings starting on page 3, paragraphs 12 to
15, I think it is.
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Without reading it word by word, 1 would
say that we looked at, for example, the
support that was being provided to high
school students in terms of being provided
with advice in terms of either academic
opportunities that could be available or that
are available to them, the importance of a
High School Diploma and graduating, and
that was one of the gaps, if you will, was that
it was something that was not being provided
consistently. There were two schools that we
visited where they had teachers, where the
principals had made a decision to have a
teacher play that role essentially and play that
role of a counsellor to advise those students.
There was that area of support.

We also looked at as a form of a gap would
be to students...or sorry, not to students but
for the department itself knowing that it has
human resource challenges in terms of
recruiting and keeping teachers and others.
One of the things that we saw that was not in
place and that we felt was important was to
have a strategy that outlined how the
department would address its human
resource needs.

At the same time one of the gaps that we had
noted was also in the area of a strategy, a
strategy that outlined what the Department of
Education could do to help students stay in
school and transition through school. We
note in our report, however, that many of the
factors that affect students are not within the
direct control of the department. That’s why
in our report we emphasize that any strategy
that the department puts forward should
really be a multi-stakeholder strategy and
that it include other stakeholders that could
contribute to some of the issues that are
facing students, whether that be in the area of
housing, but also others within the
community that can provide work
opportunities to students, that was another
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type of gap, if you will, in terms of the level
of high schools.

For adult learners, 1 would say one of the
gaps was simply having access to adult basic
education programs within their communities
and to a certain extent the limited offerings in
the sense that there were available courses
where communities that may have had an
adult basic education program, it was offered
during the day and during the week. For
individuals, for example, who may be
working, there were no evening classes or
weekend classes that were available. That’s
maybe a gap or barrier, if you will, to
individuals like that.

We saw as well, again, in the area of adult
learners, the issue with respect to information
that the college was collecting on potential
learners who were applying to the various
programs. What | mean by that is they have
various programs and those programs collect
information on people who are applying for
those programs. That’s valuable information
because we saw that some people, for
example, were not able to get into the PASS
program because they didn’t have the
sufficient literacy skills to get into that
program, but that information wasn’t being
shared on a consistent basis with others
within the college who could use that to plan
programs on their side. That was maybe a
gap, but it also contributed to barriers
because there may not be programs that are
being offered in communities where there is
a potential demand or need for those types of
programs.

Those are maybe just examples of some of
the gaps and barriers that we saw. Maybe just
lastly that | had mentioned that a strategy that
the Department of Education can prepare, it’s
important that they include others, but I think
as well and it’s something that Mr. DeJong
and we note in our report as well that it’s
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important that all three departments or all
three organizations, | should say, the college,
the Department of Family Services, and the
Department of Education really work
together because they’re essentially, as I had
mentioned in an earlier response, it’s a
continuum of individuals. Whether they’re in
high school or they leave high school early,
they’re all part of that pipeline of individuals
of supply of potential candidates for jobs in
the Government of Nunavut or in the private
sector. It’s important that they work together
to ensure that that system works; there are
always going to be bumps here and there, but
try to work so that the needs of students and
some of those barriers that they are facing are
overcome. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnug (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I also thank the Assistant
Auditor General for clearly explaining that
even though my question was brief. I'm
happy to get such a lengthy response.

I would also like to ask a question to the
Deputy Minister of Education, Tracy
MacMillan. My question, and since it is
written in English, I will read it in English.
(interpretation ends) Operations and a better
foundation is being laid to provide staff with
support and training to the student
information system, all with the goal of
improving the quality of attendance data
from Nunavut’s schools.

(interpretation) It is for students. | would just
like an explanation of what this means. Is it
for distance education? | hope that was clear,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. It
was for the Department of Education. Ms.
MacMillan.
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Ms. MacMillan: Qujannnamiik, Mr.
Chairman. To provide clarification and to
address the recommendation to improve our
attendance data, recently, in July of this
month, our IT Division purchased online
video training software, and also in-service
training audio and video files are being
created by the department to provide in-
service to schools; for example, to our
principals, secretaries, vice-principals, and
teachers, so that they will be better prepared
to input data into the system. This will better
provide and inform us how we can provide
those supports to our students. Qujannamiik,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman and thank you for your
response. Also, with Nunavut Arctic College
opening, | would like to direct my question
to Mr. Suvega, and it is regarding the SIS.

What does it encompass? We are starting to
use computers more frequently for
educational purposes. Could you give us an
overview of exactly what is in the SIS
program? Mr. Chairman, thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman and I would like to thank the
member.

We are starting to learn a bit more about
what is available for students. They had
barriers at the educator and the student level.
We would like to make adjustments. We also
have an agreement or partnership with
Memorial University in Newfoundland and
Labrador, and possibly in the future, we will
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be working with them so that the college can
develop in terms of administration and
northern research opportunities and program
expansion. We are also looking at making
sure that confidential documents are kept
confidential.

We don’t know exactly when we’re going to
have to those completed but we are working
with the Department of Community and
Government Services. Prior to that and
possibly before the next summer coming, we
will have something tangible, but we are
working with the university in expanding the
program. We’re currently doing a review.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnug (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | also thank you for clarifying
that, Mr. Suvega.

I have a question for the Department of
Family Services to supplement a Member’s
comment that was stated earlier. Which
regional organization are you referring to
when you talked about the regional entities?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Family Services, Mr. Clift.

Mr. Clift: We’re talking about the economic
development in education components of the
regional Inuit organizations: in the case of
QIA, Kakivak; in the case of KIA, Kivalliq
Partners in Development; and in the case of
the Kitikmeot, we’re working directly with
the Kitikmeot Inuit Association.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just for the ease of the
camera switchers, when you end statement
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with a thank you or qujannamiik or ma 'na,
then they know to switch. Mr. Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnug (interpretation): Thank you. |
have no further questions. | do apologize, but
I have no further questions at this time.
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. I still
have names on my list, but we will now take
a 15-minute break. When we return, Mr.
Lightstone, you will be able to ask questions.
We will see you later. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 15:17 and
resumed at 15:38

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
We’re now back. (interpretation ends) When
we left off, we were starting on our
discussion of the audit, on the report, and we
were on the first section, which were
paragraphs, basically, 1 to 15. Right now
next name on my list, Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to make a comment on behalf of
all the students, parents, teachers, and the
Standing Committee itself. | would like to
thank the Office of the Auditor General for
the effort and countless hours put into this
audit, as well as shedding light on the
findings and producing recommendations,
and most importantly, recognizing the
connection between supports for high school
students, student achievements, and post-
secondary students in achieving our Inuit
employment objectives.

I would also like to thank all of the different
departments and organizations that are also
responsible over meeting or providing those
supports. Given the different entities and
different layers of bureaucracy, | could see
how it would be difficult to recognize the
connection between each member’s role and
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achieving Article 23 and reaching Inuit
employment. | would just like to ask that all
the witnesses who are here today just to keep
that fact in mind. | know that it is easy to lose
that connection, but just be sure to reinforce
that message amongst every different
division or entity within those organizations.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
That’s just a comment. Thank you, Mr.
Lightstone. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good afternoon to officials.

My question is towards the Office of the
Auditor General. Paragraph 2 of your report
notes that hands-on learning as well as
academic preparation, guidance, and support
can help high school students transition
through school to post-secondary education
or work. From the past audits in this area,
can you describe what types of hands-on
learning experiences you feel best supports
transitions to post-secondary education or
employment opportunities? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the question, Hon. Member. In
terms of, | would say, the types of hands-on
learning and which ones maybe are best
suited, our audit had identified several
different types of hands-on learning
opportunities. | guess there are forms of
hands-on learning. What | mean by that is
having guest speakers come into a school, for
example, or career fairs, which give an
opportunity for students to... . It’s outside of
the classroom, but it gives them an
opportunity to get exposed to different types
of careers. | would consider those as part of
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that kind of package of hands-on learning, if
you will.

I think what I would say, though, is I don’t
know if there’s any one that’s better suited. |
think it’s maybe trying to offer students kind
of, as | mentioned, a package of activities or
maybe a continuum because certainly
something like having a guest speaker come
into your class is valuable because you get an
opportunity to see someone who is in a field
and you get to hear from them about what it
means to work.

You also have some of the camps, for
example, in the opening statement and in our
report and in the opening statement by the
Department of Education there was reference
to the health camp that is taking place here in
Igaluit. I think that those are valuable as well,
but for different reasons because it brings
students outside of their community, it gives
them an opportunity to travel outside of their
community and work with other students
from other communities. It’s much different
than having someone come in the class, but
it’s also more difficult and takes more
resources to coordinate and organize.

We note in our report TASK week, which is
an activity in Baker Lake, and certainly some
of the teachers and individuals who have
been involved in that have indicated that that
has been very successful. Even though
students may be chronic non-attenders or
they don’t attend a lot, something like TASK
week actually brings them to school for that
week and they really get an opportunity to
experience things hands-on.

And then | guess lastly is the whole notion of
something much more formal, which would
be a co-op placement. So when a student
would actually work in a work environment
for a certain period of time; I think trying to
offer a variety of different activities to
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students | would say, as opposed to picking
any specific one.

The one thing that | would note though, and
we note in our report, we talk about what are
called these career program plans, where
students sit down with the principal or the
councillor in the school and they talk about
what is of interest to them, is maybe
integrating those career program plans with
the activities.

So better integrating them so that these plans
are not just left in a file, but in fact, it is
something that students can use throughout
their time at high school, and so it provides
value, it makes them think throughout high
school what is it that | would like to do after
school.

I think it is maybe a combination of offering
a variety of different activities to students,
but also integrating it into requirements such
as career program plans and using them to
help students think about what is it that |
would like to do when | graduate from high
school.

| apologize if it is a long question, but I think
it is an important one, and it is an important
question that you ask. | think really a variety
of activities is probably the best solution as
opposed to any specific one. | think they all
have a role to play and they all have specific
benefits, and | think it is again, providing that
variety to students that is probably the best
route. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you Mr. Chairman. My
next question is toward the Education
department. Paragraph 4 of the audit report
notes that “The Department’s vision is to
have more well-educated and self-reliant
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Nunavummiut, high school graduation rates
that are on par with the rest of Canada, and a
majority of Nunavut youth graduating from
high school, college, or university... .”

How does the department compare the level
of skills and abilities of Nunavut graduates to
the level of skills and abilities of graduates
from other Canadian jurisdictions? | do not
want to offend the department, or to offend
our frontline workers. | am asking this on
behalf of all of our students. Is our education
system better, the same or “other”” compared
to the rest of Canada? Thank you Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) That question was for
the Department of Education. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. We would have to look into if we
collect statistics about comparing our
students with those in other jurisdictions in
Canada. | do not have that available at this
moment. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you Mr. Chairman. Yes,
we all want a good education on par with the
rest of Canada. We are trying to do that, so
we are asking to make sure that we are on par
and we are giving our educator the tools to
teach, just like the rest of Canada. That’s just
a comment. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just to get a clarification
on your response to Mr. Akoak’s question,
does the department of education carryout
the regular evaluations in terms of looking at
the rest of the country and looking at our
results in the territory? Or is that something
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that is not being done regularly as part of
your normal operations? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Our personnel sit on various
committees with CMEC, the Council of
Ministers of Education Council of Canada,
and assessments, evaluations, programming,
and actually just recently, our Curriculum
Division will be taking part and have access
to transitions information. So it is our goal as
well to prepare our students and ensure that
they do receive a high quality education with
regard to... they are entitled to the same
education as all of our students across
Canada. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following the list of names, Ms. Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | am thankful that Inuktitut is
being spoken here. (interpretation ends)
Thank you, so much. (interpretation) In the
Auditor General’s report, for clients on
(interpretation ends) income assistance
(interpretation) right now, how can they get
educated so they can get off of income
support? How can they be assisted to prepare
themselves for work? | would like to ask the
Auditor General, for (interpretation ends)
income assistance clients, (interpretation) |
would like to know if they receive any help.

(interpretation ends) My question is: did you
analyze what kind of adult learner supports
are [in place] for income support clients that
are provided specifically? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We did not look specifically at what was
available to recipients of income assistance.
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It was more individuals, and when we looked
at the availability of adult basic education
programs, that some of those individuals may
have been income assistance, but we didn’t
look to see if they were... if they were on
income assistance, we looked more just in
terms of the access to those types of
programs.

| would note though, we do note in the report
the question with respect to... I apologize.
I’m just... on paragraph 76, we talk about
adult basic education essential skills, and that
is a specific program that is offered, and it is
aimed at providing individuals with
opportunities to develop English and math;
essentially, basic English and math skills and
skills that are required for entry level jobs.
That is one area that we noted was... or not
one area, but one program, that was offered
in most communities across the territory, but
we do note that it is very much a targeted
program in the sense that it is meant to help
individuals develop those basic skills, as well
as work-related skills, that would help them
get into the work force. Whereas some of the
other, what we call the “adult basic education
core programs’’ that would allow them to go
up to higher levels of literacy, that is the area
that we noted was more of a gap. That is
covered off in paragraphs 76 and 77. Thank
you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) My
question is to Family Services. First of all, |
appreciate each of you speaking terms in our
language. | really do appreciate that.

Can you describe what challenges or
successes you have had in encouraging
income assistance clients to become adult
learners and improve their options to get
employment and no longer rely on income
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support? That’s my final question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Income
assistance, the main program that we utilize
IS a productive choice program as a means to
begin encouraging our income assistance
clients towards a path to employment.

Some of the challenges would be
prior...there’s a number of them. One would
be, for example, we have federal funding
available through our career development
stream for labour market programs. We rely
on third parties to apply and ensure that they
fit within the requirements of the federal
funding. That’s one challenge.

Another challenge, of course, is having the
broad spectrum of programs needed within a
community. Not everyone can be in one
field. Not everyone has the interest in, for
example, mining. The more programs
available, the better we can steer income
assistance clients away from that assistance
and into their career paths. Everyone has a
different interest.

I would like to have my director expand on
some areas, if I may. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Clift.

Mr. Clift: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We
have a couple of existing programs that are
specifically aimed for income assistance
recipients. As I’'m sure, all the Members have
heard of the G.R.E.A.T. program, which is
an acronym for Getting Ready for
Employment and Training. That has been in
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place now for three years. It’s a cooperative
venture between ourselves in Family
Services and Nunavut Arctic College where
we provide a variety of skills, life skills,
employment skills, academic upgrading
skills to income assistance recipients for the
purposes of preparing them for further
training. It meets a real need in communities.
Right now we’re offering it in Iqaluit for the
either third or fourth time and we’re doing
yet another section of it in Igaluit in the new
year.

It has to be community-driven, though. We
have to have enough people who want to do
it and so we rely on communities, on our
career development workers, on our income
assistance workers, government liaison
officers, hamlets to say to us, “We have a
critical mass here. We have enough students.
We have ten students or ten potential
students who want to participate.” If they
come to us and say they’ve got enough
people, we will offer it. There is no limitation
on that. If a community says, “We’re ready;
we’ve got enough people,” we will offer it.
The only limitation is the college’s ability to
provide us with instructors. Money-wise, we
will make the money available.

More generally, and not a lot of income
assistance recipients, I think, realize this, is
that if they had skills far enough advanced to
take regular training programs, they can be
supported under our ALTS program, Adult
Learning and Training Supports. That
provides a training allowance of $400 per
week. When you would do the math, a family
of two adults and two children will in fact
receive more money for living expenses
through our training allowance than they will
through income assistance. Economically, if
they wanted to take that route, it’s available
to them.
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The third thing is something that we’re
working on now. We have a new director of
income assistance who started in the spring
and he and | have been working in
conjunction with our executive director
behind me...I think she’s still behind me,
there she is, yes...to try to find a way
specifically to divert youth away from
income assistance and to training
opportunities. As part of that, we do regional
training every year and this year we are
working in conjunction with income
assistance to bring income assistance
workers and career development officers
together when we do our regional training to
talk about how we can best accomplish that.

We don’t have a hard and fast plan at this
point, but we know it needs to be done. Our
first training sessions will be the week of, |
think it is October 7 in Pangnirtung. That
will be our first go with this, working with
our frontline workers and we will see how
that proceeds.

As we learn more from talking to our
frontline workers, my hope is that by the
time of the spring sitting, we will actually be
able to announce that we have a specific
program to divert people, but it is something
that we are working on, specifically youth.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Mr. Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you Mr.
Chairman. Reading the report, the contents
are very interesting, but let us all remember
that whenever we are doing a study in
Nunavut, like when | was talking earlier,
Nunavut is very unique; we use two
languages, we always use two languages. It
is a (interpretation ends) bilingual
(interpretation) territory and that is how it
really is. In your report of the Office of the
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Auditor General, it states that education is
extremely important to the Inuit of Nunavut,
raising the people of Nunavut, and preparing
our children and youth to become
contributing participants of society in our
communities.

My first question to the Auditor General;
when you are conducting the research,
reading your report, everything seems to be
slanted towards the English language. It
seems like the report is more geared toward
the English speaking audience. Thank you
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you Mr. Chairman. I
would certainly hope that our report does not
leave that impression because | think that at
the end of the day, and I should maybe just
preface that; one of the issues surrounding
bilingual education within the school system
was something that is being reviewed as part
of the review of the Education Act.

I know in 2013 when we looked at
Education, one of our conclusions was that
the government was not going to meet it’s
timelines in terms of having bilingual
education up to grade 12 by 2019, and that
was certainly that has been discussed as part
of the review of the Education Act and the
amendments to the Education Act.

At the time of planning our audit, we felt that
what we had said in 2013 would not have
changed, and | know the government in fact
has stated that as well that meeting that 2019
target was not going to be feasible and was
looking at, if I am not mistaken, 2039. That
was in the area that we are certainly very
conscious of, but we knew that what we had
said in 2013 really had not changed, and that
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in fact, the requirements in the Education Act
would be changing.

There were certainly some issues regarding
assessment methods; for example, the use of
standardized exams, for example, using the
Alberta curriculum. We did not get into
whether or not those were culturally
appropriate. Those were really questions of
policy. We certainly did not get into that, we
would not necessarily have an opinion one
way or the other. Those are really questions
of policy for the department and the
government to look at.

Certainly at the end of the day, | think that
helping students graduate and transition
through high school into the work force or
post-secondary would apply to whether they
are English or Inuktitut.

Certainly, I think at the end of the day,
helping students graduate is key, and | think
that the goal of the government to have
students graduate who are bilingual is an
equally important objective.

If it is ok, Adrienne Scott just wanted to add
to that.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Scott, just wait for
the red light. Ms. Scott.

Ms. Scott: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If |
might add, one of the important things that
we try to highlight in the report around the
adult basic education core program is that
that program, as conceived, provides for
courses and subjects such as math, English,
but also it must include Inuktitut and I think
other electives include science, social studies,
cultural studies, computer literacy, etcetera.
The point about the adult basic education
core program is that, again, as conceived, it
includes several levels, everything from level
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1 to 10 that we talk about in the report, which
is equivalent of the early grades all the way
up to high school.

Conceivably, if the program is offered in a
community, adult learners have access to
Inuktitut language training, conceivably
anywhere from the kindergarten level all the
way up to grade 12. We know that Inuktitut
iIs included in the ABE essential skills
program, but again, that level, that course,
that pre-employment essential skills course is
really only offering Inuktitut as well as math,
numeracy, English, and computer/digital
learning amongst other subjects at a very
discrete level at the, if I’'m not mistaken,
equivalent of about grades 4 to 6, if you’re
going to try to equate it with what you would
get through the regular school system.

Another point | would just like to make is
that the college’s placement requirements for
programs like PASS, for example, are in
English. The college and the Department of
Education have determined that and we
highlight that the entrance requirements to
get into PASS, into the adult high school
education program are English reading and
writing. We simply highlight and | guess that
is reflective of the fact that the high school
curriculum is very geared toward English.

| just wanted to underline, though, the
availability or provision of Inuktitut through
adult basic education core again. If it is
available in communities, it would be
available at all of the different levels to adult
learners. Thank you very much, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Well, we have now
concluded our discussions on the first section
of the report, which goes up to page 4,
paragraph 15. We will now move on to the
next section of the report, which focuses on
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high school students. (interpretation) It’s in
the report from (interpretation ends) page 5
to 15. (interpretation) Members? Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Before | get into the questions that | would
like to ask, I would like to ask a couple of
questions toward the opening comments of
the Department of Education.

On page 7 of 20 of your opening comments,
you talked about the PASS program being
active in 15 communities and you did name
the communities. | wonder if you can explain
the reasoning why this program is not being
offered in all Nunavut communities. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. For the PASS program, we
collaborate with Nunavut Arctic College and
so | will defer this question to them for the
offerings in communities as they are the
service providers. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. The question has been raised at
time during reviews we’ve done, asking why
not all programs are offered in the
communities. There is more demand in some
communities. We use the studies as Arctic
College and sometimes we collaborate with
other departments. We also use the feedback
from communities.

Even though the programs want to be offered
in all communities, sometimes we run into
challenges, such as resources, facilities,
employees, and even funding, but sometimes
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we rely on community needs assessments
when reviewing services and programs that
will be offered. That’s beneficial.

However, if there’s no feedback from the
community, we don’t want to end up doing
nothing, but if we don’t hear from the
community, or if we’re not listening to a
certain community, then we will approach
them to tell them we haven’t heard from
them on certain programs and ask them what
they want to do. We’ll ask them if they want
to look at other programs. We don’t just sit
there and wait on the needs assessment. If we
don’t hear back from a community we have
to approach them. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is for the Department of
Education. On page 15 of your opening
comments, you say that one of the three
approaches “...focuses on the short-term
needs of the department to recruit and retain
educators, ensuring schools are fully staffed.”
It’s no secret; it’s been in the media since
school opened with the lack of teachers in
our territory this year. It’s a two-part
question: if we can get an update on if this is
still an issue throughout Nunavut, and what
impact the teacher shortage is having on
implementing the Auditor General’s
recommendations. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. As you have referenced, there are
still some vacancies in our schools and it
varies from community to community.
However, our increased efforts did result in
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all of our schools opening as scheduled this
year. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) The second part of his
question was: what are the impacts of this
educator shortage in terms of trying to
achieve what you’ve set in front of
yourselves in response to this report? Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The school vacancies, we receive
support from various divisions throughout
the Department of Education to ensure that
student learning continues in our schools. It
will be individuals in the different divisions
that will be sitting on and creating the
strategic 10-year implementation plan as well
as the educator 10-year retention and
recruitment strategy plan. So the input is
gathered from our teachers from our school
staff and they have a role in that. So other
divisions, we provide support so that we can
continue in the delivery of all services.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is for Auditor General’s
office. In paragraph 28 of your report, you
note that many high school students need
more than one year to complete a grade. Did
your audit identify any specific factors
which led to students taking more than one
year to complete a grade and, if so, can you
describe your observations in this area?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Hon. Member. I think one of the
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underlying factors... . Well, there would be
maybe two that I will highlight. One would
be that question of attendance. We certainly
heard that in many of the schools, that if
students are not attending, then they’re
obviously missing instruction time in the
classroom. Attendance would be one thing.

There’s also, I think, at least based on the
information that we were looking at, a
challenge. We were looking at the transition
from high school to post-secondary, but
there’s also a challenge in that transition
from grade 9 to high school. It’s an issue
that’s felt in other jurisdictions in North
America. Whether students are not prepared
or are maybe not aware of what they’re
facing or they’re being subject to more tests,
if you will, but there’s certainly a challenge
because of the number of students that aren’t
able to finish grade 10 within one year that
have to re-enrol in grade 10 in the second
year.

That was certainly an indicator or an
indicator that there was maybe an issue of the
preparedness of students getting into high
school and attendance, so I think those would
maybe be the two that | would flag. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
He covered my next two questions that | was
going to ask him, and then I’m going to go
back to the Department of Education and try
to shed some light on the issues that we feel
are in our communities. It’s not just me;
there are other Members around the table that
have same opinion.

On page 9 of the Auditor General’s report,
section 40, it talks about student assessments.
It says, “We found that the Department of
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Education did not have finalized policies and
guidelines to help teachers assess student
achievement in the classroom.” We feel that
the issue goes back further than high school.
I think you want to go back probably from K
to grade 9 where students aren’t achieving
what they need to move on from one grade to
the next in the lower levels.

I think there is an assessment process they do
and I’ll use grade 5 for an example. If a
person is going from grade 5 to grade 6,
there’s probably an assessment done for that
student and, if you don’t have the
qualifications to go to grade 6, it’s my
understanding that he does go to grade 6, but
there has to be a plan in place to help that
person catch up. I’'m not sure whether that’s
implemented or not. I don’t see anything
where it says that if the person does not
complete these requirements from grade 5 to
6 and then it’s time to go to grade 7, does he
move on or does he stay behind? It seems to
us that students keep moving on, and then
when you get to your grades 10, 11, and 12,
it’s where your bottleneck starts. This is why
people are getting jammed in there.

If you go on in your statement on 40, it says
that the department has drafted an
“assessment, evaluation, and reporting
framework and related policy for
Kindergarten to Grade 12 students.” In the
updated GN responses to your
recommendations that were just given to us
this morning on page 3, it states, “The
manager of student assessment position,
vacant since March of 2018, was filled in
August of 2019. Along with the assessment,
evaluation, and reporting policy, a
framework and handbook are being
developed for school staff. The framework,
policy, and handbook will be ready for
implementation in the 2020-21 school year.”
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This is to the Department of Education and,
if you were listening to what | was just
saying about assessments in the past, once
you do these assessments in the classrooms
on students, what is the intent with this data
that you will now collect from these
assessments? What do you plan to do with
this? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. All our student assessments
always inform instruction and how to
differentiate and meet the needs of our
students by pulling together and being able to
record the assessment data, creating
assessments that are in the language of our
students, in Inuktut, in Inuinnagtun, and
starting at kindergarten and working your
way to grade 12, which the department is
doing right now in particular as it pertains to
literacy assessments. The main purpose of
student assessment and evaluation and what
we use that data for is to plan relevant
instruction to meet the needs of our learners
so that they can attain success. Qujannamiik,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
When this new policy and handbook start
being used in our schools, will it have a
provision in there... ? I’ll use grade 5 for an
example just so I’'m not jumping all over the
place. Will there be a provision in there, if a
student in grade 5 does not have the
qualifications to go to grade 6, will that
person be required to repeat grade 5 or will
he or she go on to grade 6 and there would be
some sort of process to help them catch up?
Will that be part of this new framework?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Included in assessments, again,
we talk about differentiation and the specific
needs of our students and the same thing with
assessments. You have to take the needs of
the students, of the child in mind for that
assessment. Whether or not a student would
progress to the next grade level or remain,
that decision is made in conjunction with the
teacher, with the school team, with the
parents, again, to best meet the needs of our
learners. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt, do you have another question? Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you. I’ll leave it at that
for now, but something that the department
mentioned in their previous answer was
talking about the Inuktitut language. On page
17 of your opening comments you talked
about producing over 650 books in Inuktitut
and 250 Inuinnaqtun books. You go on to
talk about one for vocabulary and one for
written Inuktitut syllabics.

As you know, there are many dialects in our
territory and Sanikiluag is kind of different
from everybody because of our location. One
of the issues we have in our schools over the
years is that the type of syllabics that is being
used is not the same as they use in our
community, and some of our teachers have to
retranslate all the books that you provide.

When it comes to these books, which dialect
will you be using? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.
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Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The literacy in the books in our
schools is referred to as the educational
dialect, and we see this as an opportunity for
our students to learn a number of dialects.
Through the balanced literacy program and
those resources, they are learning in this
educational dialect. However, that does not
limit the dialect of the community to be
integrated in their teaching and learning as
well. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
do understand that there would be a
requirement in our communities where we
would try and keep our language in our
communities, but my specific question was:
on these books, which dialect is being used
to translate these books into? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. In the creation of our resources, it
is based on a committee of members from
representing the different jurisdictions and
different regions throughout Nunavut, in
collaboration and in conjunction with 1UT, to
ensure that the educational dialect is made
available to all of our students and our
children. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just before we move on
I just wanted to follow up on one of your
responses to Mr. Rumbolt. You had
mentioned, if a student is to be held back or
kept in the same grade as a result of their
assessment, it’s a simple question: do parents
in Nunavut have the ability to say to their
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child’s teacher, “I do not want my child to
remain with their peers if they are not on par
with their peers”? Is that clear what I’'m... .
I’m asking: do parents have the ability to say
to their child’s teacher “ Don’t give my kid
an easy jump up from grade 5 to grade 6.
Only if they are working at a grade 6, or pass
grade 5, I want them to move on.”? Do
parents have that right, or is it ability, or is it
more complicated than that? Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Absolutely; the parent’s voice is
key in the progress and placement of any
child. So yes, they do have an opportunity to
meet with their teacher, with the school team,
throughout the entire year, throughout the
progress of the education of their child, to
provide that input. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for clarifying
that. Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to talk a little bit about retention
of teachers and the recruitment of teachers. |
don’t think it is any secret that we know that
there is violence. Violence in Nunavut is
escalating in different areas, and one area is
the school, the classroom.

We have a lot of students in one classroom.
Many times teachers are having to deal with
large classrooms and we have a high number
of children that have shown violence in the
classroom. When it comes to retention or
when it comes to recruitment, there are a lot
of people that talk about Nunavut. For
example, if I wasn’t from here, I would
probably try and find out from somebody
who is here, like “How is it to teach in
Nunavut? What was the experience like?
What should I expect?”
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So my question to the Department of
Education is, | know that there is a shortage
of teachers throughout Canada, and
especially here in the Qikigtaaluk, we know
we have a number of positions that are still
trying to be filled now. How much do you
think, or what kind of impact do you feel the
issue around violence has had on the
challenges of hiring the teachers that we
need? Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. There are a number of factors that
often result in the retention/recruitment of
educators, not only here in Nunavut, but
throughout other jurisdictions in Canada.
Often that is related to, for example: 2 years
ago British Columbia, all of a sudden they
required an increase in their educators, so
that affects our recruitment and retention as
well.

There are a number of factors. In schools we
provide training and in-service to retain our
teachers. For example, the theme of this
year’s principal conference is Safe and
Caring Schools. They are receiving in-
service this week that they can bring back
and provide and share with their staff for the
benefit of students.

I could not comment on just one factor, as
there are a number of factors that affect the
retention of our positions. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. | would like to
talk about violence in the classroom because
I think it is a very important thing. I would
like to know how aware... . It has to have an
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impact because if | was a teacher applying
for a position and | found out that a particular
school had a lot of problems due to a number
of reasons, and | am not trying to lay blame
anywhere, but I think it would have a big
impact. Is that something you do not look at?
You know it is a growing concern. It is
something that is growing, it is not going
away.

To me, it would make sense of the
department to recognize that and come up
with some way of trying to address it before
it gets even any bigger. That is why | am
asking the question and | am hoping that you
can provide me with a response. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. In response to that, the department
does recognize that, and we are committed to
supporting the development of safe and
caring schools, and it is for this reason that
we are in the process of completing a safe
and caring schools framework. It is being
finalized and in keeping with Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit principles, in addition to
the framework we have included
consultations with a number of our
stakeholders, including parents, students,
various GN departments, and NT1 because
this is a very important issue and we want to
ensure that our schools are safe not only for
our students, but for our teachers and the
entire community. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. In speaking
about how we keep kids in schools, we were
talking about attendance, 1 think we all know
that a lot of children come from very difficult
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homes, and they bring those frustrations to
school, and we expect our teachers to deal
with not only large classes, but also to deal
with students, and individual students on an
individual basis who come with some of
these frustrations that have an impact on the
whole classroom.

In fact, myself, | know some families whose
children are in middle school, in grade six
and there are problems there, so they suspend
the student and they do not come back after
the suspension. So | am wondering what kind
of support services you have in place, not
only to help the teacher deal with this, but to
help the student who is maybe being
suspended for a number of days or weeks;
whatever he or she did. Who do you work
with that to ensure that that student comes
back, and that they feel welcomed back, and
that they receive that support to stop that
kind of behaviour? How do you go about
that? What are the steps? Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. One of the divisions of the
Department of Education is student
achievement. This division in particular has
expertise to address all needs of students
from social, emotional, to various needs in
the school.

Also, the Department of Education works
with Family Services and the Department of
Health to provide those additional
wraparound supports. Each of our schools
has a school community counsellor as well
that would be involved and able to make
home visits, again, to involve the family and
provide those additional supports. It really is
a team effort among different divisions and
departments to ensure that those students do
return to school and that a re-entry plan is
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created for them. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. I’m just curious
to know and it’s good to see that you have
strategies in place to try to address this, but |
am curious to know because | know this
child has not gone back to school and she is
13. How do you deal with something like
that when you go and then you can’t get
them to come back? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) As much as possible, |
encourage Members to talk in generalities;
avoid mentioning individual cases as much
as possible where this is a systematic kind of
audit. Ms. MacMiillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The Department of Education
always perseveres to ensure that we can get
that child back. Again, it’s working with
those wraparound supports, working with our
families, working with the Department of
Health and Family Services to ensure the
students and perhaps the family gets the
support they required for that student to get
back to school. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. I would like to
ask the Auditor General’s office if they can
answer this question because the low impact
of school attendance is addressed in your
audit, specifically paragraph 30. Did your
audit analyze attendance policies at the
different schools that you examined and, if
so, were there any best practices that were
identified? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General, Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Paragraph 30, in terms of attendance, we did
not look specific policies per se, but | would
say that there were certainly events/activities
that we were aware of. | had mentioned
earlier, but I’ll repeat it again.

In our Exhibit 1 in our report on page 14,
there are a couple of programs, if you will.
One was this TASK week that | had
mentioned that took place in Baker Lake, the
Trades Awareness Skills and Knowledge
week. Some of the teachers that we spoke to
that were involved in this activity felt that it
was very positive in terms of bringing
students and having them attend that week
because it was interesting to them. The pre-
trades program in Kugluktuk as well in the
Kugluktuk High School is another example, |
would say, of a program that was successful
in engaging students and motivating them to
stay in school. Based on information that we
received from the school, many of these
students went on to graduate from high
school and pursued post-secondary education
or became employed in the trades. Those are
maybe two examples of activities.

I would point out and I guess it would be a
policy is that in one high school that they
offered and the curriculum is the career and
technology courses, so some of the hands-on
learning courses were offered in a two-week
period towards the end of the year, but in
order to participate in those, you had to
attend class throughout the year. There was
an incentive for students in order to be able
to participate in those courses which were
ultimately of interest to them, but you
couldn’t take it if you didn’t go to school, if
you were a chronic non-attender, for
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example. It was a means of, | guess,
incentivizing or providing an incentive to
students to attend class, knowing that at the
end of the day there would be this benefit of
being able to participate in some of these
courses that were of interest to them.

Those are maybe examples of a policy but
also some of the hands-on learning or as the
pre-trades program, for example, are
examples of programs that are offered that do
motivate and encourage students to attend.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. I would like to
ask another question to the Department of
Education in regard to the high school
curriculum and keeping kids in school and
that. Way back when | went to school here,
the high school, we had different streams.
We had the vocational stream, we had the
academic stream, and we had kind of like the
general stream, what we have now, but it
seems like now we only have the general
stream. | feel like with the vocation stream,
you would get a job in the trades, you can go
and work academic, you can go off to
university and do all of that and get a job
whereas the general, we seem to be lost in
the middle without really going either way. Is
this something that the department has
looked at? Is this something the department
could look at? We can always learn from the
past. Maybe it’s something that would be
worthwhile to investigate and so I’m just
wondering what your thoughts are on that.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. It is something that the
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department is currently looking at with our
recently hired and established transition
program team in our curriculum division.
They will be looking at various pathways and
ways to facilitate and provide more support
in the areas of the hands-on learning, work
experience, and work in the trades, and also
for reference, utilizing the work as well from
CMAC and looking at the framework for
successful student transition initiative that
could also help inform our work in Nunavut.
We are currently looking at that.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just a clarification on
Ms. Angnakak’s question or on your
response, you mentioned that the department
is looking at that. What does that mean?
Does that mean that you’re... ? What does
that mean in terms of timelines, in terms of
decisions or changes that would be made to
the school system or to curriculum? Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Right now they are looking at the
framework this year to explore the additional
work in this area. In regard to timelines, it’s
active for the 2019-2020 school year for
examining this program and providing
supports as we had just hired this position
this past summer. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you for
that explanation. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My first question is for the Department of
Education and it’s regarding paragraph 21,
which states that in the previous audit on
education in 2013, the Auditor General
reported that there was a discrepancy
between classroom marks and marks
received in standardized exams. The Auditor
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General at the time “recommended that the
Department of Education analyze these
differences to identify potential areas for
reducing this gap.” I would like to ask: what
work has the Department of Education done
since 2013 to meet this recommendation?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Currently, in the 2019-2020
academic year, the Department of Education
has initiated the review process for the school
operations directives and the marks
differential directive. So we are currently
reviewing that process. (interpretation)
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m glad to see that after six years the
department is beginning to meet that
recommendation. | would like to move onto
my next question, and that is referring to
paragraph 26.

My first question is for the Office of the
Auditor General. Paragraph 26 states that the
Department of Education does not have a
strategy to help students graduate and
transition from high school to post-secondary
education and employment.

I would like to ask the Auditor General if
other jurisdictions have similar strategies in
place. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Office of the Auditor General, Mr.
McKenzie.
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Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In terms of a strategy, | am aware that this
whole issue of transitioning from high school
to post-secondary education and the
workforce is a challenge that many provinces
and territories are facing. It is reflected in the
Council of Ministers of Education of Canada
framework document that they have
produced as a means of outlining the
principles and some of the benchmarks in
terms of good practices that could be
implemented.

Some of the maritime provinces have maybe
not necessarily come out with a specific
strategy, but they have put in place... for
example, in Nova Scotia they had a taskforce
that looked specifically at this issue and they
have recommended to the government, and in
fact, the government and the Council of
Maritime Ministers, have put in place some
of the very specific activities to encourage
students. That includes, for example, a
website that they have put up that students
can go to to explore different occupations, if
you will, or opportunities that are available to
them.

So I think that it is maybe a strategy that
started with a taskforce looking at this issue,
and then coming out with specific
recommendations. Ontario is another
example where they have been looking at this
issue and they now have certain... . For
example, from what | understand, they have a
diploma that allows students to... I think it’s
called high skills graduation diploma. So it is
a variant of the high school diploma, but it
allows students to focus in on specific fields
that they may be able to pursue. What
happens is through school, they can take
courses that allow them to fine tune, or it
gives them a step forward in terms of once
they get in to that field.
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So I think that is maybe a strategy in the
sense that they have adopted it or reflected it
in their approach to issuing graduation or
types of diplomas that they offer. I do know
that in British Columbia as well there have
been very concerted efforts to assist First
Nations students improve their learning
outcomes and their educational
achievements. They have a process. We
reported on this last year actually, as a part of
an audit that the Auditor General did on
education on First Nations reserves, and it
was highlighted as a good practice of a
strategy that was put in place. | think maybe
the important aspect of it as well, was that
they were following up on that strategy and
reporting on it on a regular basis to show
how well they were closing that gap in terms
of student outcomes for First Nations
students in that province.

So I think, depending on how you define a
strategy or actions that have been taken, there
are examples across the country where this
issue is being certainly looked at. As I had
mentioned, it’s a challenge that is being
faced in provinces and territories across the
country, and that there are efforts under way
to try and improve that transition for
students. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) As I’'m sitting here
listening to the hard-working interpreters
there, 1 would just ask everybody to be
cognizant in terms of how fast we speak in
English. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
appreciate the information provided by the
Office of the Auditor General.

My next question is for the Department of
Education. I find that the strategy in place by
the Maritime Provinces is quite interesting. |
would like to ask if the Department of
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Education is familiar with the Maritime task
force and has been following the progress
that has been made in this area. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. The transition team will be
completing a jurisdictional scan of the best
practices in other areas throughout Canada,
so they will expose themselves to that type of
work. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My last question for paragraph 26. In
paragraph 4 the Department of Education’s
vision is to have graduation rates as well as
grads’ skills and abilities at par with the rest
of Canada, and then in the last sentence in
paragraph 26 it states that the department
does not “have any targets or timelines to
support its vision of having high school
graduation rates and graduates’ skills equal
to those in the rest of Canada.” The way I
read it is that implies that our grads are not
equal to the rest of Canada. | would like to
ask if the Department of Education would
agree to this imposition. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Our graduates are entitled to the
same as their counterparts throughout the rest
of Canada, absolutely. As for a strategy, this
will be a part and focus of our ten-year
strategic plan that we have already initiated
and will be a result of a collaboration of
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feedback and input from our stakeholders.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the response. | do look
forward to hearing more about that upon
completion of that strategy.

I’ll move on to my next question and it’s in
relation to paragraph 28. My question is for
the Auditor General. Paragraph 28 states that
throughout the audit, many high school
students left school and, for example,
between 2015-16 and 2017-18 there were a
total of 1,275 students who left between
grades 10 and 12, so 1,200 dropouts in a
three-year span. | would like to ask the
Auditor General how the OAG determined
those dropout rates. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McKenzie.

Mr. McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The process that we followed was that we
worked with the Department of Education.
We obtained data from them on enrolment
figures and what we did was we analyzed
students who were enrolled in one year in a
grade, for example, grade 10, but then at the
end of that year, they didn’t re-enrol the
following year. We looked at essentially
students... . That was really based on
changes to enrolment. We looked at those
that enrolled in following years and then we
looked at the students that did not come back
into the system to identify those that left.
Early leavers, essentially, is how we
characterized them to determine the number
of students that were not coming back into
the system. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is for the Department of
Education. We all know that we do have high
rates of dropouts in our education system, yet
I think this is the first time | have actually
seen a solid number. Given the significance
of dropout rates to the success of our
education system, | would like to ask why
the Department of Education does not report
that crucial information in our annual reports.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. In future reports this will be
considered. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
really appreciate that. Thank you very much.
My next question is sort of following up on
Ms. Angnakak’s question about different
pathways to graduation. In paragraph 29 it
states that currently there’s only one primary
graduation pathway, but the school officials
are looking into alternative pathways to
graduation. I would like to ask if the
Department of Education will be able to
provide us with some examples for
alternative diploma options. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
For example, the transitions team in our
curriculum division is looking at increasing
the hands-on learning opportunities for our
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students. For example, this year several
alternative scheduling scenarios such as
offering more support to students and
employers embarking on work experience
will be tested throughout the fall of 2019
using two of Nunavut’s high schools as field
testing. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Lightstone, we’re
just about to wrap for the day; you might
have time for one more, quick question. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
appreciate the additional information
provided by the Department of Education. |
would like to follow up and ask what two
schools will be piloting this work experience
program. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
They would be the high schools in Baker
Lake and Igloolik. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Thank you for indicating that. Mr.
Lightstone, if you have more questions, you
will have an opportunity to ask them
tomorrow. That’s for your information.

Recognizing the clock, our meeting is
adjourned and we will resume our meeting at
nine o’clock tomorrow morning. I thank all
the presenters that were in attendance today.
We will see you again tomorrow. For those
following the proceedings, please note that
our meeting will resume at nine o’clock in
the morning. Have a good evening. Thank
you.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:59
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